
 United Nations  E/2017/SR.39 

  

Economic and Social Council  Distr.: General 

22 September 2017 

 

Original: English 

 

 

This record is subject to correction. 

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages . They should be set forth in 

a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent as soon as 

possible to the Chief of the Document Management Section (dms@un.org). 

Corrected records will be reissued electronically on the Official Document System of the  

United Nations (http://documents.un.org/). 

17-11231 (E) 

*1711231*  
 

2017 session 

28 July 2016-27 July 2017 
 

Summary record of the 39th meeting  

Held at Headquarters, New York, on Wednesday, 5 July 2017, at 11 a.m. 
 

 President: Mr. Barros Melet (Vice-President) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Chile) 
 

 

 

Contents 
 

Agenda item 7: Operational activities of the United Nations for international 

development cooperation (continued) 

 Statement by the Secretary-General 

 

  

mailto:dms@un.org
http://documents.un.org/


E/2017/SR.39 
 

 

17-11231 2/16 

 

In the absence of Mr. Shava (Zimbabwe), Mr. Barros 

Melet (Chile), Vice-President, took the Chair.  

 

The meeting was called to order at 11.05 a.m. 
 

 

Agenda item 7: Operational activities of the 

United Nations for international development 

cooperation (continued)  
 

1. The President invited the Council to resume its 

consideration of agenda item 7, entitled “Operational 

activities of the United Nations for international 

development cooperation”. 

 

  Statement by the Secretary-General 
 

2. The Secretary-General, expressing gratitude for 

the hard work done by all his colleagues in the 

Secretariat as well as across the various agencies, 

funds and programmes of the United Nations system to 

ensure the timely delivery of his report entitled 

“Repositioning the United Nations development system 

to deliver on the 2030 Agenda: ensuring a better future 

for all” (A/72/124-E/2018/3), said that the reforms he 

envisioned were designed to serve Member States in 

their implementation of the 2030 Agenda for 

Sustainable Development. 

3. The 2030 Agenda was humanity’s boldest agenda 

and would require equally bold changes to the United 

Nations development system. He had been tasked with 

putting forward proposals that matched the ambition 

needed to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals; 

as the first step in that regard, the report was his 

offering for discussion on what he was convinced was 

the most ambitious yet realistic road map for change. It 

included 38 concrete ideas and actions to usher in a 

new era of strengthened implementation founded on 

leadership, cohesion, accountability and results. Such 

efforts did not solely concern what individual entities 

did alone, but also addressed what the United Nations 

system could and must do together to better support the 

efforts of Member States in implementing the 

transformative 2030 Agenda. 

4. The United Nations development system had a 

proud history of delivering results. Across the decades, 

it had generated ideas and solutions that had changed 

the world for millions of the poorest and most 

vulnerable people on Earth. Flagship national policies 

and institutional reinforcement had been supported in 

many countries, thus making a profound difference in 

people’s lives. The development system had made 

significant contributions to supporting countries in 

their pursuit of the Millennium Development Goals, 

the most successful global anti-poverty effort in 

history.  

5. Member States had been critical to producing the 

2030 Agenda, the most ambitious anti-poverty and 

pro-planet agenda ever adopted by the United Nations. 

Yet, everyone knew that the development system was 

not functioning at its full potential: the United Nations 

was being held back by insufficient coordination and 

accountability on system-wide activities, and far too 

much of its work was rooted in the past rather than 

looking forward to the future. Urgent change was 

needed in order to ensure sustainable development, 

human rights and peace for generations to come. There 

was no time to lose. 

6. The 2030 Agenda pointed the way and must 

become the defining agenda of the age, as it was the 

sole integrated platform to respond to the needs of 

people and Governments. The United Nations 

development system must therefore become far more 

integrated, more aligned, more effective and more 

intersectoral in its work. The world’s shared goal was a 

twenty-first century United Nations development 

system that was focused more on people and less on 

processes, more on results for the poorest and the 

excluded and less on bureaucracy, more on integrated 

support for the 2030 Agenda and less on business as 

usual. That made it a collective responsibility to ask 

some deep and difficult questions about structures, 

skill sets and the architecture for action. After all, 

sustainable development was pivotal to the lives of 

every person, everywhere.  

7. Sustainable development was a means to improve 

the lives of people, communities and societies without 

harming the planet. It was the most powerful tool for 

prevention: not only a route for advancing the 

realization of economic, cultural, social and political 

rights for all, but also for enabling global peace and 

security. 

8. He had consequently made a very conscious 

decision to be as explicit as possible in his first report 

in the interest of full transparency, and to put concrete 

ideas on the table for discussion. The report was also 

an integral component of a broader reform agenda to 

strengthen the United Nations to better meet current 

complex and interlinked challenges. Those actions 

included reforming the peace and security architecture, 

giving adequate priority to prevention and sustaining 

peace; and reforming management, simplifying 

procedures and decentralizing decisions while 

enhancing transparency, efficiency and accountability. 

They also included clear strategies and actions to 

https://undocs.org/A/72/124


 
E/2017/SR.39 

 

3/16 17-11231 

 

achieve gender parity, end sexual exploitation and 

abuse, and strengthen counter-terrorism structures. 

9. However, reform was difficult and not an end in 

itself. Reforms were undertaken while being keenly 

aware of the obligation to live up to the values of the 

Charter of the United Nations in the twenty-first 

century: ensuring that the system was better positioned 

to deliver for those who suffered most from poverty or 

exclusion and had been left behind without access to 

development, peace or respect for their rights and 

dignity. They looked to the United Nations with hope 

to better their lives.  

10. In order to meet the mandates of the quadrennial 

comprehensive policy review, extensive and inclusive 

consultations had been held with Member States and 

the United Nations system. An internal mechanism had 

been created for the Department of Economic and 

Social Affairs and the United Nations Development 

Group to work together with transparency and 

accountability. Technical work had been initiated that 

drew on previous studies on accountability, 

transparency, coordination and oversight of the United 

Nations development system. Major work had been 

conducted with external experts to gather and analyse 

data on system-wide functions and capacities across 

the United Nations.  

11. The proposals in the report thus reflected the 

leadership needed at the country level to help Member 

States achieve their goals, and the leadership needed at 

Headquarters to meet the ambition of the 2030 Agenda 

on the ground. Some proposals required further 

consultations while others could be set in motion 

immediately. He would continue to engage with 

Member States in the coming months before putting 

forward a more detailed report in December 2017.  

12. He wished to outline eight guiding ideas. First, 

the United Nations development system must 

accelerate its transition from the Millennium 

Development Goals to the 2030 Agenda; there were 

major gaps in the system’s current skill sets and 

mechanisms. The system was still set up to perform on 

a narrower set of goals that focused on certain sectors, 

rather than across the entire sustainable development 

agenda. Of course, the United Nations must be humble 

and could not do everything, everywhere. However, it 

must be able to provide advice, pool expertise and help 

Governments achieve the Sustainable Development 

Goals, including by helping to convene the partners 

they required to take actions to scale. Better 

coordination, planning and accountability would 

provide the platform for United Nations country teams 

to transform overlaps into synergies and help 

Governments identify partners to bridge gaps.  

13. Second, a much stronger focus was needed on 

financing for development. In order to meet the 

expectations of people and Governments that the 

United Nations system would help deliver on official 

development assistance and unlock doors to financing, 

expertise, know-how and technologies, the 

Organization must work with the private sector, 

international financial institutions and all other 

partners. The report envisioned a role for resident 

coordinator offices as country-level hubs supporting 

Governments in broadening their own resource bases, 

leveraging financing for development and mobilizing 

agency-specific expertise. A strengthened Department 

of Economic and Social Affairs would work in 

collaboration with regional commissions and the 

United Nations development system to provide the 

policy guidance and backing needed by resident 

coordinators and country teams to help Governments 

leverage financing. 

14. Third, a new generation of country teams was 

needed that was tailored to the specific needs of each 

country. Country offices around the world had 18 

agencies on average. The 2030 Agenda compelled the 

United Nations to move towards country teams that 

were leaner and more cohesive, flexible, efficient and 

focused in their scope. Teams must respond to evolving 

national priorities in an integrated, holistic way. That 

included the imperative of addressing the 

humanitarian-development nexus and its links with 

building and sustaining peace in a way that did not lead 

to a diversion of funds or a shift in focus from 

development to other objectives, while still preserving 

the autonomy of the humanitarian space. The old ways 

of working had been based on weak collective 

accountability, an approach that would not lead to 

transformative change in people’s lives. It was 

important to make the most of the strengths of 

individual agencies while trying to achieve greater 

coherence, unity and accountability, including at the 

top. By December, specific criteria would be presented 

for consideration that might help to determine to the 

optimal United Nations configuration on a country-by-

country basis. 

15. Fourth, the ambiguity regarding the role of 

resident coordinators must be resolved. Currently, 

resident coordinators were expected to steer United 

Nations country team support at the national level, but 

had limited tools and no formal authority over other 

United Nations agencies and offices. To lead the new 

generation of country teams, resident coordinators 

must be well-staffed and supported with sufficient 



E/2017/SR.39 
 

 

17-11231 4/16 

 

resources, and have direct supervisory lines over all 

country team members on system-wide responsibilities. 

Members would naturally preserve reporting lines to 

their headquarters in the exercise of their respective 

mandates. With greater authority must also come 

greater accountability. Those were two sides of the 

same coin. Consultations and analysis pointed to the 

value of delinking the functions of the resident 

coordinators from those of the resident representatives 

of the United Nations Development Programme 

(UNDP), while ensuring continued access to the 

substantive policy support, operational tools and joint 

financing they needed. The current firewall between 

those two functions could not guarantee the level of 

impartiality needed for resident coordinators to 

generate confidence and lead effectively. The reporting 

lines from the resident coordinators to the Secretary-

General would need to be clarified and strengthened, 

while increasing accountability to Member States for 

system-wide development results. 

16. He wished to be crystal clear that sustainable 

development must be the DNA of resident 

coordinators. Resident coordinators must be capable of 

steering and overseeing the development system’s 

substantive contribution to the 2030 Agenda, in line 

with national priorities and needs. They must also, 

however, be able to take a broader view and lead 

integrated analysis and planning processes, which had 

significant implications for achieving the Sustainable 

Development Goals. Furthermore, resident 

coordinators must support Governments in crisis 

prevention efforts that focused on building resilience 

and anticipating shocks that could undermine progress, 

whether from climate change, natural hazards or the 

risk of conflict. To successfully implement the 2030 

Agenda, the resident coordinator function must remain 

anchored in the operational system for development 

and be firmly connected to the country level and with 

UNDP as a key driver for development. More specific 

proposals regarding the resident coordinator system 

would be presented by December. 

17. Fifth, for too long, reform efforts in the field had 

been hindered by a lack of similar efforts at 

Headquarters. To enable change on the ground, an 

accountability mechanism was needed at Headquarters 

that was seen as impartial and neutral, without creating 

new bureaucracies or superstructures. To address that 

long-standing issue, he intended to assume his full 

responsibilities as Chief Executive of the United 

Nations and reassert a leadership role in the 

Organization’s sustainable development efforts in 

support of Member States and staff on the ground. He 

was asking the Deputy Secretary-General to oversee 

and provide strategic guidance to the United Nations 

Development Group, and to lead a steering committee 

to foster coherence between humanitarian action and 

development work. Decentralization was a key goal of 

all his reform efforts. Effective decentralization would 

require strengthening accountability at Headquarters, 

while always maintaining a focus on delivery on the 

ground. 

18. Sixth, a more cohesive United Nations policy 

voice must be fostered at the regional level. A review 

of regional representation and activities would be 

launched to clarify the division of labour within the 

system and explore ways to reinforce the policy 

backbone at the country, regional and global levels.  

19. Seventh, the accountability of the United Nations 

development system was a matter of priority. 

Accountability was an end in itself. It fostered 

transparency, improved results and held institutions to 

agreed standards and commitments. It was also a 

critical incentive for collaboration and better reporting 

on system-wide impact. The report identified three 

specific areas for continued engagement with Member 

States: improving guidance and oversight over system-

wide results, with the Economic and Social Council at 

the centre; more transparency around collective results, 

including through system-wide annual reporting and 

the establishment of a system-wide independent 

evaluation function; and more robust internal 

accountability to ensure that internal mechanisms such 

as the United Nations System Chief Executives Board 

for Coordination and the United Nations Development 

Group delivered on the mandates of Member States as 

well as internal agreements. 

20. Eighth and finally, there was a critical need to 

address the unintended funding consequences that had 

hampered the ability of the United Nations to deliver 

as one. Around 85 per cent of all funds were currently 

earmarked, of which approximately 90 per cent were 

earmarked to single-donor, single-agency programmes. 

A fragmented funding base was delivering a 

fragmented system and undermining results in people’s 

lives. He therefore wished to explore the possibility of 

a funding compact, through which the system would 

commit to greater efficiency, value-for-money and 

reporting on system-wide results, based on the prospect 

of more robust core funding support to individual 

agencies and improved joint funding practices.  

21. The true test of reform would not be measured in 

words in New York or Geneva. It would be measured 

through tangible results in the lives of the people 

served by the United Nations. The report outlined areas 

where ambitious but realistic changes could be 



 
E/2017/SR.39 

 

5/16 17-11231 

 

implemented without creating unnecessary disruption 

on the ground. It also reflected his previous experience 

as head of a major United Nations operational agency. 

His decade as the United Nations High Commissioner 

for Refugees had given him first-hand experience of 

the system’s strengths and the challenges of inter-

agency collaboration. He had seen the need to preserve 

adequate levels of autonomy to ensure flexible and 

efficient delivery, in line with the specific mandates 

that needed to be implemented. During many field 

visits, however, he had repeatedly heard from 

colleagues and partners that the United Nations must 

do far better in working together to deliver a system 

that produced results for people. Many questions raised 

in the report still required further consideration; 

answers would be sought in collaboration with Member 

States, as repositioning the United Nations 

development system was a shared responsibility. 

22. Just as the founders of the Organization had 

looked into the future when they had shaped and 

adopted the Charter of the United Nations, there was 

now a collective responsibility to invest in the United 

Nations of tomorrow and in the world it wished to see 

in 2030 and beyond. He was convinced that the bold 

steps that the 2030 Agenda required, and which 

humanity deserved, could be taken together.  

23. Mr. Moustapha (Chad), speaking on behalf of 

the Group of African States, said that the Group would 

attentively review the contents of the report and 

provide objective feedback at a later date. Throughout 

the process of consultations on the report, the Group 

had always expressed its support for the 

implementation of the important mandates arising from 

General Assembly resolution 71/243 on the 

quadrennial comprehensive policy review of 

operational activities for development of the United 

Nations development system. That included a 

systematic review to support the effective 

implementation of the 2030 Agenda. For the Group, the 

following were the key elements of such a review: 

supporting the efforts of African countries to 

implement the Agenda at the national and regional 

levels; taking into account African priorities and the 

needs of African countries in special situations; 

building on achievements, establishing forums for 

sharing information and best practices, including 

regarding technology transfer, and improving the 

quality of data for Member States; strengthening the 

presence of the United Nations at the national level and 

also strengthening the Economic Commission for 

Africa; enhancing cooperation between Member States 

and the African Union and its regional economic 

commissions; and, most importantly, finding new 

financing source and establishing suitable resource 

mobilization strategies. 

24. While Member States might express different 

viewpoints and priorities with regard to the United 

Nations development system, General Assembly 

resolution 71/243 provided sufficient inspiration and 

guidance for consensus to be reached. The United 

Nations development system must provide qualitative 

support to all States, particularly African States to 

achieve “the future we want”. 

25. Mr. Skoog (Sweden), speaking on behalf of the 

Nordic countries (Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway 

and Sweden), said that the reform of the United 

Nations development system repositioned sustainable 

development at the heart of its work, while focusing on 

prevention and sustaining peace, and identifying the 

root causes of conflict and vulnerability. The report 

presented a good vision to achieve the 2030 Agenda 

and ensure coherent delivery through strengthened and 

accountable leadership. Although the report referred 

specifically to the United Nations development system, 

the Nordic countries underlined the importance of 

linking all reform initiatives, as management, peace, 

security and development were interdependent and true 

reform would require an integrated approach.  

26. The Nordic countries supported system-wide 

reforms that encompassed a number of important 

cross-cutting themes such as gender equality, adequate 

financing and accountability. However, they wished to 

focus on three areas of particular interest. First, the in -

country delivery of joined-up work by a new 

generation of country teams would act as the litmus 

test for all new reforms. Development efforts must 

maintain a clear focus on the main beneficiaries in the 

field and the United Nations development system must 

always adopt a contextual presence and country-

specific response. Second, gender parity must be 

achieved in nominations and, more broadly, the gender 

perspective must be mainstreamed in all aspects of the 

development system, both normative and operational. 

Third, financing reform to overcome current funding 

issues would be crucial to achieve the 2030 Agenda. 

The Nordic countries emphasized the importance of 

core funding, which allowed for the flexibility 

requested in the report. Sweden and Norway had 

committed to delivering 1 per cent of their gross 

national income as development aid. The Nordic 

countries looked forward to contributing to the funding 

compact suggested in the report. 

27. Ms. Zahir (Observer for Maldives), speaking on 

behalf of the Alliance of Small Island States, said that 

as the report had been circulated before a holiday 

https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/243
https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/243


E/2017/SR.39 
 

 

17-11231 6/16 

 

weekend, the Alliance was unable to provide in-depth 

feedback as a group. It would review the report and 

hoped for another opportunity to discuss its 

recommendations in the near future. As small island 

developing States were greatly dependent on the 

United Nations development system to implement the 

2030 Agenda, the Alliance looked forward to future 

dialogue on the repositioning of the development 

system for greater effectiveness.  

28. Mr. Bin Momen (Observer for Bangladesh), 

speaking on behalf of the Group of Least Developed 

Countries, said that the Group could not provide 

detailed feedback because the report had been 

distributed before a holiday weekend. The Group was 

still examining the report’s recommendations and 

hoped to engage in a fruitful discussion in the coming 

weeks and months. 

29. The elements captured in the report were timely 

and vitally important for the least developed countries. 

A stronger United Nations was necessary to ensure the 

successful implementation of the 2030 Agenda, 

drawing on a stronger resource base, especially core 

funding, efficient and skilled human resources and 

transparent, accountable business practices.  

30. His delegation had taken note of the 

recommendations regarding the reporting structures of 

United Nations country teams and the new supervisory 

role outlined for the Deputy Secretary-General. It was 

necessary to further consider how the accountability of 

the United Nations country teams and the resident 

coordinator system could be strengthened with regard 

to host countries as well as intergovernmental 

processes. Continued decline in programmatic support 

to the least developed countries remained a major 

concern that must be addressed, preferably by 

establishing a United Nations system-wide benchmark 

for the allocation of programmatic resources to the 

least developed countries.  

31. While working to reposition the United Nations 

development system, it was necessary to remember that 

recent statistics showed that a business as usual 

approach would still leave 35 per cent of the 

population of least developed countries in extreme 

poverty by 2030. In that regard, the Group supported 

the funding compact suggested by the Secretary-

General. The compact should not only focus on 

enhanced funding, but also on leveraging available 

funding in a more predictable fashion. Lastly, the 

physical presence of the United Nations system at the 

country level remained highly important for least 

developed countries and should be further enhanced. 

32. Mr. Rycroft (United Kingdom) said that extreme 

poverty, conflict and humanitarian crises were closely 

interlinked; as a result, more people needed the United 

Nations development system than ever before. Too 

many people were currently being failed by a system 

that must be urgently reformed. 

33. A reformed United Nations must be at the heart 

of an effective, rules-based international system that 

could prevent and resolve conflict, help countries to 

develop sustainably, respond to humanitarian crises, 

and build and sustain peace. In short, the United 

Nations must be allowed to live up to its full potential. 

There was an unprecedented demand for multilateral 

responses to global challenges and the international 

system must evolve to meet them. Millions of people 

currently relied on a development system whose 

processes and institutions had been established over 

50 years ago. Member States now had a duty to refocus 

and reorganize that system. 

34. He welcomed the strong vision of reform 

contained in the report, including concrete proposals 

and repeated emphasis on leadership, effectiveness, 

accountability and performance. The United Kingdom 

would continue to be the second largest donor to the 

United Nations development system. However, the 

international community must now go beyond the 

status quo and adopt bold and ambitious reforms, of 

which the report was merely the first step.  

35. Mr. Lauber (Observer for Switzerland) said that 

his delegation welcomed the report, as it reflected the 

ambitions and expectations that had been repeatedly 

expressed by Member States, including during the 

consultations on the 2016 quadrennial comprehensive 

policy review. The 2030 Agenda would require genuine 

changes in working methods that emphasized 

collective results, greater accountability and revamped 

leadership at the country, regional and headquarters 

levels. Reform of the United Nations development 

system must go hand in hand with reforms of the 

Organization’s management and administration, and a 

strengthened focus on the humanitarian-development 

nexus and its linkages to peace and security.  

36. The recommendations contained in the report 

were ambitious, especially those suggesting the 

delinking of the functions of resident coordinators 

from UNDP resident representatives and the use of a 

system-wide strategic document for all intervention 

countries. They were also necessary to make the 

United Nations development system more coherent, 

collaborative and effective. In the context of the reform 

of the United Nations development system, all Member 

States must adapt their positions and working methods, 



 
E/2017/SR.39 

 

7/16 17-11231 

 

especially with regard to financing. His delegation 

appreciated the suggestion of a funding compact as 

well as the progressive merging of the governing 

boards of New York-based funds and programmes. It 

looked forward to receiving more detailed proposals 

from the Secretary-General before the end of the year. 

37. Mr. Minami (Japan) said that his delegation 

welcomed the emphasis on prevention and the creation 

of synergies in the report, which contained concrete 

and ambitious suggestions for the United Nations to 

deliver better results on the ground. The 

operationalization of the humanitarian-development 

nexus, in particular, was a long-standing issue that 

should be addressed. While the intention of reforming 

the resident coordinator system was also welcome, that 

matter must be further examined owing to associated 

legal and financial issues. More information was also 

needed on how the larger role envisioned for the 

Deputy Secretary-General, while welcome, would 

affect her current role as the second highest-ranking 

United Nations official.  

38. The call for improved governance and oversight 

was supported, but further discussion was needed on 

whether the three options presented in the report would 

be truly conducive to that end. Similarly, in-depth 

discussions should be held on the issue of funding, 

based on the consensus views expressed at previous 

forums and also respecting the realities on the ground 

of each Member State.  

39. His delegation was interested in the proposals to 

ensure a clear division of labour between the regional 

economic commissions and the Department of 

Economic and Social Affairs. However, such efforts 

must be implemented in an effective and efficient 

manner without adding more bureaucratic layers.  

40. Lastly, his delegation wished to know the process 

for submitting more detailed comments prior to the 

issuance of the follow-up report of the Secretary-

General in December.  

41. Mr. Meyer (Brazil), welcoming the efforts made 

by the Office of the Secretary-General to engage with 

all Member States during consultations, said that it 

would take time to consider the report’s specific 

recommendations within the Group of 77 and China, to 

which it belonged. However, the basic assumptions 

contained in the report were a good reflection of the 

purpose of General Assembly resolution 71/243 and 

the nature of the 2030 Agenda.  

42.  The United Nations development system should 

support countries in fulfilling any unfinished business 

regarding the Millennium Development Goals, while 

also promoting the more innovative Sustainable 

Development Goals by developing new forms of 

expertise and addressing the full range of development 

challenges, both old and new. His delegation therefore 

appreciated the emphasis placed on strengthening the 

policy backbone of the development system by 

leveraging its unique combination of normative 

legitimacy and operational reach, as well as policy 

integration, knowledge exchange and the transfer of 

technology. 

43. In order for the United Nations development 

system to be relevant for all developing countries, it 

must adopt a multidimensional approach to poverty 

and other development challenges whilst still paying 

special attention to the most vulnerable countries. 

National ownership and leadership should be 

reinforced, and country-level delivery should function 

as a litmus test for success. His delegation would 

appreciate further discussions on how to improve and 

better coordinate capacity-development activities.  

44. Ms. Wilson (Australia) said that the international 

community was facing multiple and complex 

challenges. Much as Member States had worked 

together to create the United Nations over 70 years 

earlier, they must now revitalize their shared institution 

to face those common challenges. Her delegation 

would therefore first look for solutions and structures 

that recognized that the world had changed. The 

world’s citizens expected a modern and efficient 

United Nations that also recognized its role to leverage 

and inspire transformative change with others, 

including Member States, civil society, business and 

philanthropy. Engagement with all of those groups was 

the only pathway to success. Australia would also seek 

changes that empowered leadership and performance, 

incentivized excellence everywhere and provided plans 

and mechanisms to address underperformance. 

Furthermore, holistic solutions were needed that 

focused on rewarding proven performance and 

interconnections between governance and finance, and 

effectiveness and results. Lastly, reforms should 

promote transparency as the currency of trust and 

diversity as a source of strength. Australia looked 

forward to playing its part in the reform process.  

45. Mr. Tommo Monthe (Cameroon) said that the 

report was very timely, since the key question was 

whether the United Nations system, together with 

Member States and other partners, was fit for purpose 

to implement the 2030 Agenda. The report had tried to 

answer that question with regard to the United Nations.  

46. Cameroon welcomed the overall vision contained 

in the report, including the proposals concerning the 

https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/243


E/2017/SR.39 
 

 

17-11231 8/16 

 

Deputy Secretary-General, the regional commissions 

and the resident coordinator system. His delegation 

also highly appreciated the idea of a funding compact, 

since trillions of dollars would be needed to implement 

the 2030 Agenda. The report to be issued in December 

must provide more information on the compact and 

establish the annual amount needed for each country 

and region, the nature of those resources and the timing 

for their use. However, other resources such as 

technology, research and innovation and partnerships 

would also be needed, and the final report must 

indicate how Member States, especially weaker or  

smaller ones, could access them. Technology, research 

and innovation were often inaccessible owing to 

intellectual property restrictions, and partnerships were 

formed on a very selective basis.  

47. Lastly, regarding the talent pool, the United 

Nations system had some excellent senior staff, but it 

would be necessary to redeploy some and recruit 

others. The Secretary-General’s report on management 

must specify how much it would cost to retrain staff or 

recruit new personnel. His delegation looked forward 

to reviewing all the supplementary reports on 

management, resources and related issues, which 

should be considered together. The year 2030 was fast 

approaching and the reform process would need to be 

completed very soon in order for the Agenda to be 

implemented on time. 

48. Ms. Lodhi (Pakistan) said that her delegation had 

not had much time to review the report in detail, but 

would make some preliminary comments. Pakistan 

fully supported the principal objective of the review, 

which was to ensure that the United Nations 

development system was well positioned to 

comprehensively and sustainably support 

implementation of the 2030 Agenda. General Assembly 

resolution 71/243 provided the necessary framework 

for that reform. The review was a fundamental 

component of the Secretary-General’s reform initiative, 

which included examination of the peace and security 

architecture and internal management reform, all of 

which was supported by Pakistan. A clear path must be 

set out for consulting Member States during the 

preparation of the final report to be issued in 

December. 

49. Her Government agreed that sustainable 

development built resilience and sustained peace, and 

that a durable peace enabled sustainable development. 

However, an overemphasis on prevention in the 

development context could fundamentally change the 

nature of the United Nations development system; 

maintaining its focus on development was therefore 

vital.  

50. Addressing the growing imbalance between core 

and non-core financing would be crucial. The report 

proposed a modest approach in dealing with the gaps in 

Sustainable Development Goal coverage, which was a 

concern. The development system should have the 

necessary capacity and resources to assist countries in 

comprehensively achieving the Goals. At the regional 

level, the review by the Secretary-General would help 

to clarify the division of labour within the system but 

regional diversity should be factored in, as well as 

respective priorities. 

51. Pakistan welcomed the assigning of 

comprehensive responsibilities in sustainable 

development to the Deputy Secretary-General and the 

creation of a redesigned Sustainable Development Goal 

unit and an executive committee to promote integrated 

decision-making. The appointment of the Deputy 

Secretary-General as Chair of the United Nations 

Development Group would undoubtedly enhance the 

accountability of the United Nations development 

system. On strengthening the accountability of the 

development system to Member States, the 

comprehensive approach proposed by the Secretary-

General would require careful assessment.  

52. Ms. Velichko (Observer for Belarus) said that 

UNDP played a key role in the United Nations 

development system and that the UNDP office in 

Belarus was working effectively. In connection with 

the planned reform, she wondered whether there had 

been any assessment of country office problems that 

would justify UNDP apparently losing its priority role.  

53. Belarus wished to hear more about the 

mechanism for appointing resident coordinators, since 

the proposed mechanism would increase the number of 

participants approving candidates and did not take 

account of the role of the State to which the resident 

coordinator would be appointed.  

54. Her delegation wondered what the future role of 

States would be in the reform of the United Nations 

development system and how the interests of States 

would be taken into consideration in preparing the 

Secretary-General’s subsequent report for submission 

in December. The current briefing should not merely 

be a box-ticking exercise.  

55. It was not clear from the report whether the 

reduction in the number of country offices was part of 

the “Delivering as one” initiative, under which all 

offices would report to the resident coordinator, or  

whether it was part of a reduction solely in the number 

of UNDP offices. Reform, especially of such an 

important part of the work of the United Nations as 

development, should not lead to poor performance by 

https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/243


 
E/2017/SR.39 

 

9/16 17-11231 

 

country offices or to additional difficulties on the 

ground for recipient countries. States should also play 

a key role in that process. 

56. Mr. Gómez Camacho (Observer for Mexico) 

said that dialogue with Member States was vital to 

making progress. The report was full of common sense 

and pragmatism, and Mexico was in complete 

agreement with the eight guiding ideas outlined in the 

Secretary-General’s statement and understood that they 

only made sense as a whole.  

57. However, his delegation wished to mention two 

well-known but unresolved issues. The first was 

bureaucracy. Just like any other bureaucracy, the 

United Nations system was not designed to transform 

itself. Indeed, institutions usually worked in the 

opposite direction, and the United Nations was no 

exception. Strong leadership by the Secretary-General 

that provided a clear direction was therefore essential 

and he must be supported by Member States in that 

endeavour. The institutional complexity of the United 

Nations, which had developed rather arbitrarily over 

many years, made his job even harder. The system’s 

incentives needed to be overhauled, since they were 

contributing to the development of silos and to 

decreased collaboration.  

58. The second issue concerned the Member States 

themselves. Their inertias, fears and interests or 

perceived interests often led to a dialogue among 

themselves that was not necessarily conducive to the 

reform they desired, quite possibly the opposite. 

Common sense, ambition and diplomacy would be 

required, and Member States would need to assume 

their responsibilities in that regard, since 50 per cent of 

the process depended on them. 

59. As mentioned in the report, around 85 per cent of 

funds were earmarked, yet earmarking often produced 

great distortions in the Organization’s mandates. That 

was another area in which common sense and 

commitment were needed from Member States, which 

should reflect on their interests in the Organization and 

make the necessary political decisions in order to take 

the process forward. 

60. Mr. Krapp (Germany) said that, although there 

had not been much time to review the report, it was 

bold and visionary and contained unusually concrete 

recommendations. He welcomed the way the report 

was framed, since it showed the level of leadership the 

development system required in order to unlock its full 

potential to deliver on the 2030 Agenda. Germany 

strongly supported the effort to bring about meaningful 

change and stood ready to support the reform agenda. 

The report was based on the analysis of capacities and 

functions requested by Member States in the 

quadrennial comprehensive policy review. The effort to 

address gaps and overlaps, and to clarify the division 

of labour between United Nations entities, was 

particularly appreciated. 

61. The United Nations development system must 

become fit for purpose in order to be able to make a 

substantial contribution to implementation of the 2030 

Agenda and better meet the world’s complex and 

interlinked challenges. There was an unprecedented 

demand for multilateral responses to global challenges, 

and the international system must evolve in order to 

keep pace. The proposed reform agenda was therefore 

welcome. Funding could be a powerful driver of 

coherence but also of fragmentation. His delegation 

therefore requested more information on the funding 

compact, the details of which should be worked out in 

close cooperation with Member States. 

62. The report was one piece of the complex puzzle 

that constituted reform of the United Nations 

development system. The ambition shown in the report 

was much appreciated and the development system 

required and deserved that the same level of ambition 

be sustained over the coming months. 

63. Mr. Kononuchenko (Russian Federation) said 

that the report had unfortunately caused his delegation 

more concern than hope for the future of the United 

Nations development system. For the most part, the 

conclusions and recommendations contained therein 

went beyond the mandates agreed by Member States in 

the quadrennial comprehensive policy review of 

operational activities for development. There was 

clearly an attempt to weaken Member States’ control 

over the development system and to overlook the 

principle of national ownership.  

64. In General Assembly resolution 71/243, 

Governments had agreed to strengthen the 

transparency, coherence and accountability of the 

United Nations development system, but there had 

been no mention of a complete overhaul. In that 

context, the Russian Federation was seriously 

concerned by the recommendation concerning the 

humanitarian-development nexus and the imposition of 

the new way of working, which had not been agreed at 

the intergovernmental level. Furthermore, the attempt 

to introduce conflict prevention into the work of the 

development system was inappropriate and ran counter 

to the first guiding principle of the quadrennial 

comprehensive policy review. 

65. There was insufficient justification for the 

establishment of a steering committee or an 

independent evaluation office anchored in the 

https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/243


E/2017/SR.39 
 

 

17-11231 10/16 

 

Executive Office of the Secretary-General. The review 

was intended to increase accountability and effective 

interaction among existing offices and Member States, 

and to establish transparent and clear working 

methods. It should not generate more bureaucracy or 

further complicate the organizational structure. He 

questioned the staffing and budgetary implications of 

taking those steps and why coordination and evaluation 

issues could not be deal with by existing entities such 

as the Chief Executives Board for Coordination, the 

United Nations Evaluation Group and the Joint 

Inspection Unit. 

66. The report highlighted gaps in the contribution of 

the United Nations development system to the 

achievement of Sustainable Development Goal 6, on 

clean water and sanitation, Goal 7, on affordable and 

clean energy, Goal 9, on industry, innovation and 

infrastructure, Goal 12, on responsible consumption 

and production, and Goal 13, on climate action. 

However, the report contained no substantive 

recommendations in that regard. At the same time, 

persistent attempts were being made to impose on the 

development system work that was related to human 

rights and sustaining peace. 

67. His delegation also wished to highlight the 

unjustified expansion of Secretariat’s authority. 

Although there was no mandate for such action in the 

quadrennial comprehensive policy review, the lion’s 

share of the report consisted of recommendations in 

that regard. The recommendations to transfer of 

chairmanship of the United Nations Development 

Group to the Deputy Secretary-General, to reconfigure 

country teams and to transform resident coordinators 

into political actors would increase centralized 

management within the development system. That 

would essentially undermine the neutral and universal 

nature of the current decision-making mechanism and 

obviate the need for Member States’ approval through 

the creation of a legal instrument to endorse politically 

motivated standards of operational activities.  

68. The fundamental principle of the quadrennial 

comprehensive policy review was national ownership 

in the area of sustainable development, not only in the 

definition of national development priorities, strategies 

and policies but also in related issues such as 

establishing country teams and their methods for 

cooperating with Governments and also formulating 

their ultimate objectives, including within the United 

Nations Development Assistance Framework.  

69. The review had also reaffirmed that the resident 

coordinator system was owned by the United Nations 

development system as a whole, meaning that any 

potential changes to resident coordinator profiles or 

amendments to selection and evaluation processes 

should be considered and approved by Member States 

solely by consensus. Disregarding that principle could 

have dire consequences, even leading to a complete 

breakdown of trust by programme countries.  

70. Proposed innovations at the Headquarters level 

were also questionable, particularly the effectiveness 

and legitimacy of merging the governing bodies of 

New York-based funds and programmes.  

71. The review had unambiguously intended to 

strengthen the transparency and responsiveness of the 

United Nations development system and its 

accountability to Member States. For States, the 

development system was a neutral, objective and 

trusted partner, not a conduit of norms and standards 

that were convenient to a limited number of interested 

components within the system. It had been expected 

from the report that the development system would 

strengthen the profile of partnerships.  

72. The report did not take into account the actual 

service needs of recipient countries. Its conclusions 

were mostly speculative, disrupted the fragile balance 

achieved and went beyond the mandates of the 

quadrennial comprehensive policy review and the 

sustainable development pillar in general. It was 

doubtful whether such a controversial vision could be 

used to guide improvements in the work of the 

development system. 

73. Mr. Blanchard (Observer for Canada) said that 

the report fully reflected the vision on breaking down 

silos that the Secretary-General had set out both before 

and after his appointment.  

74. His own experience over the past year with two 

country teams, in Haiti and Sierra Leone, had made 

clear to him the importance of enhancing the role and 

authority of the resident coordinator. However, the 

difficulty would possibly lie in the extent of the 

resident coordinator’s ability to comment on, 

coordinate and allocate human and material resources 

among the agencies. The country team in Haiti had so 

far concentrated on security issues and humanitarian 

action, but its focus was shifting towards development, 

which would require different talents and resources, 

even if they were provided by some of the same 

agencies. The proposal constituted something of a 

revolution within the United Nations system and 

Canada wished to encourage the Secretary-General to 

continue to work in that direction since it would 

otherwise be difficult to make progress in the breaking 

down of silos. 



 
E/2017/SR.39 

 

11/16 17-11231 

 

75. It was very positive that the matter of the talent 

pool had been accorded such a high priority. When 

putting forward candidates, Member States needed to 

think about the expertise required. Many of the skills 

required for the future were different from those of the 

past and if the United Nations was irrelevant to the 

implementation of the 2030 Agenda then the 

Organization would fail.  

76. Regarding the issue of resources and partnerships 

and the role of the Department of Social and Economic 

Affairs, the United Nations Development Group and 

the United Nations Global Compact, the report was 

clearly only a first step but a great deal of work needed 

to be done in the area of financing and mobilizing 

resources for implementation of the 2030 Agenda. To 

date, the Global Compact had focused on norm-setting 

but less so on mobilizing resources and financing, 

which was a shift and would require different skills. 

The Group of Friends on Sustainable Development 

Goal Financing had also looked at the same issue over 

the past six months; it was very clear that different 

partnerships were needed with the multilateral banks 

and the United Nations and the country teams, which 

would take integration and coordination at the United 

Nations to a new level. He invited the Secretary-

General to go even further than the action proposed in 

his report. While it was vital that the United Nations 

remained relevant to the implementation of the 2030 

Agenda, it was also urgent that financing be scaled up. 

There was no magic bullet, only a series of initiatives 

and platforms that needed to be created. 

77. Ms. Amadeo (United States of America) said that 

her delegation appreciated the consultative approach 

taken in seeking input from Member States and other 

members of the development system and believed the 

report was a considerable step in the right direction for 

reform of the United Nations development system. The 

United States strongly supported the reform effort and 

had been at the forefront of negotiations on the 

quadrennial comprehensive policy review, urging a 

bold and comprehensive overview of the development 

system in order to ensure that the Organization was 

ready to meet the complex challenges of the twenty-

first century and that it recognized and acted upon the 

interlinked nature of the world’s humanitarian, 

development and sustaining peace challenges. A review 

of gaps and overlaps in development system capacities, 

an outline of options to improve coordination among 

development system entities and consideration of 

Member States’ oversight were critical to achieving 

that goal. 

78. Her delegation welcomed the report’s 

identification of the need for better coordination at 

Headquarters and at the country-team level among 

agencies working on the humanitarian-development-

peace nexus. The current coordination mechanisms 

could no longer meet the demands of contemporary 

agendas and must be improved. It also appreciated the 

recognition that the Department of Economic and 

Social Affairs and the regional commissions were in 

need of reform. The adoption of the Sustainable 

Development Goals had provided a key opportunity to 

reform the structure of the Secretariat to refocus on 

outcomes and impact. The United States urged the 

Secretary-General to look at ways to streamline and 

reduce costs and reporting in order to seize on 

efficiencies, which would reduce overlap and costly 

redundancies. 

79. Mr. Wu Haitao (China) said that his delegation 

supported the central role of the United Nations in 

promoting collective development and maintaining 

world peace. The United Nations development system 

should be repositioned around the comprehensive 

implementation of the 2030 Agenda. Support to 

developing countries should be increased in areas 

where it was most urgently needed so that those 

countries could develop in a manner consistent with 

their national conditions and their own choices. The 

principles of national ownership and leadership should 

be respected, and the tasks of poverty reduction and 

economic development in developing countries should 

be prioritized. His delegation had taken note of the 

proposals contained in the report of the Secretary-

General, and hoped that the Department of Economic 

and Social Affairs would take a more active role in 

policy coordination for the achievement of the 

Sustainable Development Goals.  

80. With regard to the resources of the United 

Nations system, North-South cooperation was still the 

main channel for official development assistance; 

South-South cooperation served as a complement 

thereto and strengthened development partnerships. 

The work of the United Nations development system 

was wide-ranging and influential. With that in mind, 

the Chinese delegation would study the report with 

care, and looked forward to engaging in discussions 

with all parties. The views and recommendations of 

Member States, especially developing countries, 

should be taken into account in order to achieve 

consensus on the reform of the development system. At 

the same time, it was necessary to improve the analysis 

and assessment of reform measures and forecast their 

impacts, both positive and negative. 

81. His Government was prepared to work with all 

parties towards the achievement of the Sustainable 

Development Goals and to assist all countries, 



E/2017/SR.39 
 

 

17-11231 12/16 

 

particularly developing countries, in their 

development. 

82. Mr. Morales López (Colombia) said that the 

report presented an accurate assessment of the 

development system and proposed feasible solutions. 

Although only preliminary, the report proposed 

practical steps and changes that were urgently needed 

to increase transparency and accountability. In 

particular, it recognized that General Assembly 

resolution 71/243 was being implemented and 

acknowledged the value of United Nations 

Development Assistance Frameworks. Only by 

reviewing the mandates and activities undertaken in the 

area of sustainable development would it be possible to 

develop an overarching vision of the system and 

determine countries’ specific needs for implementation 

of the 2030 Agenda. 

83. Colombia particularly welcomed the priority 

given to achieving gender parity among the resident 

coordinators, as well as the report’s new vision of the 

work of the country teams and the resident coordinator. 

However, it was important to continue to identify gaps 

and ways to increase coherence and synergies and 

reduce overlap, so that progress could be made towards 

implementation of the 2030 Agenda. Colombia was 

confident that, under the leadership of the Deputy 

Secretary-General, the work of the Department of 

Economic and Social Affairs, the regional commissions 

and the United Nations development system would be 

carried out more efficiently and more opportunities for 

financing for development would be generated.  

84. The report had highlighted the importance of 

strengthening the interlinkages between the 2030 

Agenda and sustaining peace. The development system 

should undertake specific work in conflict or post-

conflict contexts to ensure the achievement of a stable 

and lasting peace together with true sustainable 

development. 

85. Mr. Teo Choon Heng (Observer for Singapore) 

said that his delegation had had limited time to review 

the report, but wished to convey its strong support for 

the Secretary-General and the Deputy Secretary-

General in their efforts to reform the United Nations 

and make it fit for purpose to deliver as one on the 

2030 Agenda; it urged them to be ambitious and 

pledged its commitment to work with them to advance 

the reform process. 

86. He welcomed the report’s emphasis on 

accountability and transparency. As a small State, 

Singapore attached importance to an effective rules-

based multilateral system, and believed the ideas 

presented were a step in the right direction. It also 

welcomed the report’s candid assessment and 

acknowledgement of the gaps in the United Nations 

development system. However, the key question was 

how those gaps should be addressed and, in particular, 

how the development system could be strengthened to 

support implementation of the 2030 Agenda by small 

island developing States. His Government urged the 

Secretary-General to give priority to that issue and 

place more emphasis on strengthening the United 

Nations development system in order to provide better 

support to vulnerable countries. It was also positive 

that the report had identified gaps in addressing some 

of the Sustainable Development Goals, since no Goals 

must be left behind in the quest to leave no one behind.  

87. His delegation wished to see greater synergies 

with other reform processes, in particular with 

management reform initiatives and the efforts to 

enhance the talent pool of the Secretariat. In that 

context, his Government welcomed the Secretary-

General’s efforts to align the three pillars of reform to 

ensure that the processes collectively strengthened the 

ability of the United Nations to perform better. The 

role of the Deputy Secretary-General was critical to 

ensuring that the focus on development was not lost in 

the drive to reform the United Nations system. Reform 

should not be an end in itself, rather a means of 

ensuring that the United Nations was better able to 

deliver on its agenda and its many mandates. 

88. Ms. Bahous (Observer for Jordan) said that her 

delegation welcomed the reform process, and 

supported the Secretary-General’s vision and 

leadership in responding to the demands of a new 

development agenda. The process must succeed, since 

increased coherence, accountability and transparency 

were needed to achieve the right results on the ground.  

89. To strengthen the development system, it was 

vital to emphasize the humanitarian-development 

nexus and its linkages to building and sustaining peace 

and security, and also to prevention, without diverting 

focus and funds from development. The new way of 

working must focus on collective outcomes at the 

country level. National ownership and leadership 

therefore remained paramount, and it was important to 

strengthen the resident coordinator system and the 

resident coordinator’s authority in that direction, in 

particular by building new skill sets and changing 

mindsets.  

90. National plans should guide the coordination 

between operational activities for development and 

humanitarian assistance and peacebuilding efforts, but 

it was also important to pay close attention to regional 

mechanisms and to clarify the division of labour within 

https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/243


 
E/2017/SR.39 

 

13/16 17-11231 

 

the system. Effective communication would be needed 

to ensure the eight guiding ideas were understood and 

embraced by all. Regarding the fragmentation of 

funding, Jordan welcomed and fully supported the 

recommendation to work on a funding compact and 

believed that a change in the funding architecture may 

be needed at all levels.  

91. Mr. Chandrtri (Observer for Thailand) said that 

his delegation welcomed the analysis in the report on 

ways to strengthen the capacity of the United Nations 

development system in order to foster and support 

South-South and triangular cooperation, including 

through the United Nations Office for South-South 

Cooperation. It also welcomed the recognition that 

regional commissions should play a greater role in 

contributing to sustainable development.  

92. Regarding changes to the resident coordinator 

system, it was crucial for resident coordinators to work 

in close consultation with programme countries on the 

ground in line with their national development 

priorities. The repositioning of the United Nations 

development system must leave no one behind and 

support the implementation of the 2030 Agenda by all 

Member States.  

93. Mr. Sevilla Borja (Observer for Ecuador) said 

that the report presented by the Secretary-General 

broke with tradition by not remaining a merely 

technical exercise: it proposed a new political vision to 

reform the United Nations. He commended both the 

Secretary-General and the Deputy Secretary-General 

for undertaking an inclusive process of consultations to 

produce the report.  

94. The report was based on two key elements: the 

information provided by the Joint Inspection Unit and 

a review of the functions and responsibilities of the 

United Nations development system. Although his 

delegation had not yet been able to analyse the report 

in depth, either individually or as the Chair  of the 

Group of 77 and China, it did have some preliminary 

observations to make with a view to the issuance of the 

final report in December.  

95. First, when discussing poverty and equality, the 

report should provide specific statistics regarding 

inequality. Second, although mentioned was made that 

65 million people were currently displaced, it should 

be specified that many of those individuals had been 

displaced by foreign occupation, colonialism and 

illegal military interventions. Third, while the report  

referred to various international instruments that 

provided a clear road map to face the challenges ahead, 

a more exhaustive list should mention other 

agreements such as the New Urban Agenda, the Sendai 

Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030 and 

the Treaty on the Prohibition of Nuclear Weapons.  

96. Noting that there were only 13 years left to 

achieve the Sustainable Development Goals, he said 

that failure to achieve the Goals would cause future 

generations to lose trust in the United Nations.  

97. Lastly, he recalled that the United Nations 

presence on the ground served to support the national 

policies of countries striving to implement the 2030 

Agenda and not to impose foreign political 

philosophies. 

98. Ms. Bogyay (Observer for Hungary) said that her 

delegation supported the report’s objective of 

reviewing the current functions and capacities of the 

United Nations development system in order to 

improve overall coordination and identify gaps, 

overlaps and challenges. Hungary had called for 

greater accountability, transparency and oversight for 

many years; the 2030 Agenda offered a golden 

opportunity to make the development system fit for 

purpose. Input from Member States should play an 

important role in the preparation of the second report 

to be circulated in December. 

99. While it would be possible to build on existing 

functions and mechanisms, the ambitious scope of the 

2030 Agenda would require scaled-up coherence and 

efficiency. Her delegation wished to support all 

initiatives that emphasized transparency, action and 

better systemic coordination.  

100. She wondered what kinds of solutions were 

possible to address gaps in thematic coverage of the 

water-related Sustainable Development Goals, as 

mentioned in paragraph 51 of the report. In the area of 

human trafficking, forced labour, sexual exploitation 

and other forms of modern slavery, coherence between 

the actions of the various United Nations entities must 

be enhanced and linked to the areas of conflict 

prevention and counter-terrorism. 

101. Mr. Parenti (Observer for the European Union) 

welcomed the eight guidelines in the report as concrete 

ideas for implementation and a genuine effort to ensure 

that the United Nations could deliver as one.  

102. The Secretary-General expressed his gratitude 

to the 25 delegations that had taken the floor for their 

important contributions to the discussion and said that 

he would respectfully attempt to respond to all of them 

while being conscious of the limited time.  

103. Responding to the delegation of Chad, he said 

that the true litmus test of the 2030 Agenda would be 

its degree of success in Africa, alongside that of 



E/2017/SR.39 
 

 

17-11231 14/16 

 

Agenda 2063: The Africa We Want, adopted by the 

African Union. He agreed with all the objectives set 

out by the Group of African countries. The priorities of 

the African continent were essential, and the United 

Nations development system would continue to work 

with the African Union and other subregional 

organizations, which provided essential support for the  

success of Member States in overcoming the enormous 

development challenges that still existed. 

104. Expressing his agreement with the points made 

by the delegation of Sweden, he said that, ideally, 

country contributions to financing would be provided 

early, unearmarked and without conditions, much as 

Sweden had usually done during his time as United 

Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. While it 

was not possible for that model to become the standard 

across the board for all Member States, it was essential 

to move in that direction. 

105. He assured the Maldivian delegation that small 

island developing States remained a key priority and 

that he understood the concerns expressed about their 

inadequate representation within the United Nations 

system. Efforts would be made to rationalize the 

support provided to small island States. He also 

welcomed the emphasis that the delegation had placed 

on transparency. 

106. Responding to the delegation of Bangladesh, he 

underlined the central question of accountability to  

host countries, which was one of the most important 

aspects for reforming the country teams and 

strengthening the resident coordinator system. 

Conditions must be created for ownership to be 

effective and for all agencies to be able to cooperate 

with a single objective in mind, namely responding to 

the priorities defined by Governments.  

107. He agreed that there must be multilateral 

responses to global challenges, and looked forward to 

the contribution that the United Kingdom Secretary of 

State for International Development would make to the 

debate. He likewise agreed with the comments made by 

the delegation of Switzerland, especially regarding the 

need to guarantee collective work and results within 

the United Nations development system. 

108. The delegation of Japan had asked about the way 

forward. As soon as the high-level political forum on 

sustainable development ended, a work plan would be 

presented for interaction within the United Nations 

system, and also with Member States in the context of 

the General Assembly and the Economic and Social 

Council, in order to achieve a final report that was not 

only a product of internal analysis but also a reflection 

of Member States’ concerns. With regard to the doubt 

expressed concerning the new role of the Deputy 

Secretary-General, he said that the coordination of the 

United Nations development system had been 

enshrined as the primary responsibility of the Deputy 

Secretary-General by a General Assembly resolution. 

The reforms being undertaken thus merely sought to 

reflect the intentions of a General Assembly resolution.  

109. He expressed full agreement with the 

observations made by the delegation of Brazil, 

especially concerning the need to strengthen the policy 

backbone of the United Nations development system, 

which was linked to the various reforms envisioned for 

the Department of Economic and Social Affairs, the 

regional commissions and the role played by UNDP.  

110. Commenting on the remarks made by the 

delegation of Australia, he said that transparency was 

essential for trust; unfortunately, trust was still a 

problem within the United Nations system, as well as 

amongst Member States. He would do everything 

possible to guarantee it. 

111. In response to the delegation of Cameroon, it was 

highlighted that the concept of being fit for purpose 

applied to the whole United Nations system, as well as 

to Member States and other partners. The level of 

details regarding technology and resources requested 

by the delegation in the final report would 

unfortunately not be possible on a country-by-country 

basis, but efforts would be made to provide more 

concrete details. 

112. He welcomed the emphasis placed by the 

delegation of Pakistan on the need to be more 

development-focused. Development was crucial to the 

work of the United Nations as a whole, although it was 

obviously linked to other aspects. Resources would not 

be diverted from development. More discussion would 

be needed regarding how best to fill the existing gaps.  

113. Reassuring the delegation of Belarus, he said that 

resident coordinators could not be appointed without 

the agreement of Member States. Moreover, the role of 

resident coordinators was not a politicized one; on the 

contrary, he sought to increase the accountability of 

country teams to Member States. There was no 

intention to reduce the role of UNDP within the system 

and it would continue to provide central support to 

resident coordinators and other system elements. The 

report clearly stated that UNDP would become the 

integrator platform for the contribution of different 

United Nations agencies in support of the resident 

coordinator system.  

114. As the delegation of Mexico had underlined, it 

was necessary to embrace common sense and 



 
E/2017/SR.39 

 

15/16 17-11231 

 

pragmatism, working together to change the traditional 

working methods of institutions that were highly 

resistant to change. Mutual trust would create the 

conditions for success. It was true that a highly 

earmarked budget inevitably led to a distortion of 

priorities. 

115. Responding to the delegation of Germany, he said 

that he hoped that the proposals contained in the report 

were sufficiently concrete and ambitious. The intention 

had been for the interim report to serve its purpose by 

at least discussing all of the key questions and 

providing some concrete proposals. Further discussions 

could then be held to address the issues raised. In that 

context, he underscored the importance of the next 

Group of 20 meeting, especially in relation to Africa, 

education and other concerns expressed by the German 

delegation. He welcomed the linkages that had been 

established between the Group of 20 and the 

Sustainable Development Goals, and the 2030 Agenda 

more generally, as a very important development.  

116. Expressing gratitude to the delegation of the 

Russian Federation for its sincere and open remarks, he 

explained that there were always two possible 

interpretations of any text. The Russian Federation 

appeared to believe that the proposals contained in the 

report went beyond the quadrennial comprehensive 

policy review and were aimed at politicizing and 

centralizing the United Nations development system, 

merging development with peace and human rights and 

thereby reducing the accountability of the system to 

Member States. While he fully respected the right of 

the delegation to make that interpretation, as one of the 

authors of the report he argued that such a reading ran 

counter to the original aim of the text. The proposed 

reforms were not intended to centralize or politicize 

the development system. When describing new 

functions for the Deputy Secretary-General, the report 

was merely fulfilling a request contained in a General 

Assembly resolution in which it had been observed that 

the development system had no effective means of 

reporting to the General Assembly and the Economic 

and Social Council. Hence, the objective was to 

strengthen, not to weaken, the capacity of the system to 

respond to both bodies. Indeed, the Council would be 

at the centre of the new accountability mechanism. The 

need for an evaluation function was precisely so that 

Member States had a much more accurate analysis of 

successes and failures than from what was traditionally 

presented in the generally positive reports of the 

various entities of the United Nations system.  

117. Similarly, resident coordinators had no political 

function: they coordinated the different aspects of 

country teams in relation to the Sustainable 

Development Goals while leaving a clear line of 

accountability between each agency and its board. 

Such a reform would not reduce but in fact increase 

accountability to Member States and was in keeping 

with what Member States themselves had repeatedly 

demanded: a clear vision of what country teams and 

agencies were doing. Traditionally, each agency had 

gone its own way, operating according to the priorities 

defined by its donors rather than by Governments. It 

was necessary to create coordination mechanisms for 

agencies to respond to national plans for the 

implementation of the 2030 Agenda. Currently, a much 

more politicized situation occurred, where agencies 

spent 85 to 90 per cent of their funds on their own 

priorities, which were not necessarily those of the 

States involved. 

118. He stood ready to establish all the necessary 

mechanisms to clarify accountability to Member States 

as well as the General Assembly and the Economic and 

Social Council. The Russian Federation should rest 

assured that its concerns had been taken into 

consideration and that there was no intention of 

sacrificing development to peace or human rights. 

However, the best form of prevention was sustainable 

and inclusive development. Funds would not be 

transferred to other objectives such as security; rather, 

it was important to recognize the centrality of 

development to all pillars of activity. He hoped that 

consensus could be found in that regard. 

119. The delegation of Canada had raised three 

important issues that would need to be further clarified 

during the debates. He was also grateful to the 

delegation of the United States of America for its 

emphasis on the need to respect results and outcomes 

as the central criteria when examining the activities of 

the development system. 

120. Responding to the delegation of China, he 

reiterated that a central tenet of the reform was 

ensuring that the necessary conditions existed for the 

effective implementation of the 2030 Agenda. He 

agreed that priority should be given to developing 

countries while respecting national ownership and that 

South-South cooperation complemented but must not 

replace traditional official development assistance 

commitments. He looked forward to the United 

Nations being more effective in supporting the very 

important contribution made by China to South-South 

cooperation. 

121. He agreed with the delegation of Colombia 

regarding the issue of overlap. Much work remained to 

be done so that coordination could transform overlaps 



E/2017/SR.39 
 

 

17-11231 16/16 

 

into synergies. Development was a precondition for 

peace. 

122. Much as the delegation of Singapore had 

observed, it was important to prioritize small island 

developing States and to leave no Goals behind.  

123. The delegation of Jordan had presented its 

testimony of a country that had faced the dramatic 

impact of refugees, accompanied by enormous 

humanitarian problems and negative effects on its 

structural development. Jordan was proof of the fact 

that a nexus was needed between humanitarian action 

and development efforts; that nexus must nonetheless 

respect the autonomy of the humanitarian space. Such 

integrated missions in fact already existed in some 

countries where peacekeeping missions had been 

established. However, when situations like the one in 

Jordan occurred, it was necessary to ensure that the 

international community not only responded to the 

humanitarian needs of refugees, but also to the 

structural development problems that were created in 

the host country as a result of its generosity in hosting 

refugees. Such responses should also use innovative 

sources of funding as stipulated in the change of policy 

adopted by the World Bank in that regard. He also 

agreed that communication was crucial to the work of 

the United Nations development system.  

124. Responding to the delegation of Thailand, he 

confirmed that resident coordinators were supposed to 

work in close consultation with Member States.  

125. He was grateful to the delegation of Ecuador for 

its kind words regarding the vision contained in the 

report, and also for its suggestions on further 

clarifications. Responding to the request for statistics 

on inequality, he pointed out that the eight richest 

individuals in the world possessed half of the entire 

world’s wealth. 

126. The issue of human trafficking raised by the 

delegation of Hungary was the most hideous crime and 

an issue that was dear to his heart. At least the same 

capacity and resources should be devoted to fighting it 

as were dedicated to combating drug trafficking. 

127. Lastly, expressing his gratitude to delegation of 

the European Union for its constructive comments, he 

said that he would count on its support for the 

achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals 

and the implementation of the 2030 Agenda. 

The meeting rose at 1.45 p.m. 


